FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 1/12/2022 10:52 AM No. 54959-0-II FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/12/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

II 10

100560-1

DIVISION II, COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WALTER DORWIN TEAGUE ASSOCIATES, INC.,

Appellant

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Scott M. Edwards WSBA No. 26455 Ryan P. McBride WSBA No. 33280 Daniel A. Kittle WSBA No. 43340 Attorneys for Petitioner Walter Dorwin Teague Associates, Inc.

LANE POWELL PC 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4200 P.O. Box 91302 Seattle, WA 98111-9402 Telephone: 206.223.7000

I. INTRODUCTION

This appeal raises the recurring question of whether the Department of Revenue (DOR) has authority to disregard its own interpretive rule when applying a facially ambiguous tax statute—and, further, whether Washington courts can permit DOR to do so when it results in a construction of the statute that disfavors the taxpayer. The answer to both of these questions is no. This Court should accept review to not only right the wrong that occurred in this case, but also to reaffirm fundamental principles of taxation that DOR and our courts too often ignore.

Walter Dorwin Teague Associates, Inc. (Teague) designs aircraft interiors for passenger planes manufactured by Boeing. On some projects, Teague contracts with the airline; on others, Teague contracts through Boeing to work with a particular airline. In both circumstances, however, Teague works directly with the airline to tailor its design to the airline's needs and specifications. Boeing assembles the aircraft's interior as part of its overall manufacturing process, and then delivers the finished aircraft to the airline for the airline's use.

The apportionment of Teague's B&O tax turns on where Teague's customer "received the benefit" of Teague's services. RCW 82.04.462(3)(b). By rule, DOR interprets that term to mean that, when the taxpayer's services relate to the manufacture of tangible personal property, the customer receives the benefit of the service where the finished property "is expected to be used or delivered." WAC 458-20-19402(303)(b)(ii). Here, the aircraft interiors that Teague designs is the relevant tangible personal property, and there is no dispute that the interiors are "expected to be used or delivered" where the airlines operate—and that is true whether Teague's customer is the airline or Boeing.

Flouting the language of its own rule, DOR apportioned Teague's income to the location where the aircraft interiors are "used or delivered" only when Teague contracted with an airline, but not when it contracted with Boeing—even though Teague's services, Boeing's assembly, and the airline's use of the interiors are identical in both situations. A divided Court of Appeals accepted DOR's approach. But as the dissent noted, the statute and rule "either provide that Teague should not be subject to B&O taxes for its design services or are hopelessly unclear," in which case, "ambiguity must be resolved in favor of Teague."

The court's published opinion warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(2) because, by permitting DOR to defy the plain language of Rule 19402, the opinion conflicts with precedent holding that DOR may not ignore its own interpretive rules in applying ambiguous tax statutes and that such statutes must be strongly construed in favor of taxpayers. More generally, the opinion also warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because there is a substantial public interest in promoting and rewarding justifiable taxpayer reliance on DOR's interpretive rules given the voluntary compliance nature of our tax system.

II. COURT OF APPEALS OPINION

The Court of Appeals issued its published opinion on December 14, 2021 (Opinion). A copy of the Opinion is attached.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

When Teague contracts with Boeing to design aircraft interiors, RCW 82.04.462 requires income from those contracts to be sourced to the state where Boeing "received the benefit" of Teague's services. DOR promulgated Rule 19402 to interpret that ambiguous term. The Rule provides that, because Teague's services relate to the manufacture of tangible personal property, *i.e.*, aircraft interiors, Boeing receives the benefit of the services "where [that property] is expected to be used or delivered."

Although it was undisputed that the aircraft interiors are "expected to be used or delivered" to airlines operating in other states, DOR sourced Teague's income to Washington where Boeing used Teague's designs during the manufacturing process. Did the Court of Appeals err when it (1) permitted DOR to ignore Rule 19402's plain and ordinary meaning, and (2) refused to construe an ambiguous tax statute in the taxpayer's favor? **Yes.**

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Undisputed Facts

Teague is an industrial design firm that designs aircraft interiors for passenger aircraft manufactured by Boeing, including seat layouts and geometry, airline brand placement, and other aspects of aircraft interiors. CP 235. Depending upon the commercial relationship between Boeing and a particular airline, for some projects Teague contracts directly with the airline; for others, Teague contracts with Boeing. *Id.*; CP 145-46. When Teague contracts with Boeing, Teague performs its design services under a Statement of Work that is specific to each particular airline. CP 235; *see*, *e.g.*, CP 240-52.

Teague works closely with each airline to ensure its design is consistent with the airline's expectations, helping the airline choose design aspects like colors, materials, or other modifications and airline-specified design elements. CP 236. Teague regularly meets with representatives of the airline to obtain design input and approval, including traveling to the

5

airline's headquarters. *Id.* Critically, whether Teague contracts with an airline or with Boeing, the design work it does for the airline is the same. *Id.*; CP 165 ("It's the same work.").

After an airline approves Teague's design, Boeing assembles the aircraft's interior in accordance with Teague's design. CP 236. Boeing does this as part of its overall assembly process in the same facility; it does not assemble the aircraft interior separately from the rest of the aircraft. CP 317. Boeing views the airplane interior as an integral part of the aircraft as a whole, not a separate component. And, indeed, the Teaguedesigned aircraft interiors are not completed until Boeing completes the entire aircraft assembly process. CP 317-18.

B. DOR's Interpretive Rule Regarding RCW 82.04.462

Washington's B&O tax applies to income derived from "the act or privilege of engaging in business activities" in Washington. RCW 82.04.220(1). The constitutional concept of apportionment permits Washington to tax only that income properly derived from business activities performed within this state. RCW 82.04.460(1); *see Gwin, White & Prince Inc. v. Henneford*, 305 U.S. 434 (1939). In 2010, the Washington legislature adopted a "single factor" apportionment method for service income. Laws of 2010, 1st Spec. Sess., ch. 23; RCW 82.04.460. Under RCW 82.04.462, a taxpayer's income must be attributed to the state "[w]here the customer received the benefit of the taxpayer's service." RCW 82.04.462(3)(b)(i).

Because that term is subject to multiple interpretations, DOR promulgated Rule 19402 to explain how taxpayers should apply the statute in various contexts. The Rule provides that, "[i]f the taxpayer's service relates to tangible personal property, then the benefit is received where the tangible personal property is located or intended/expected to be located." WAC 458-20-19402(303)(b). Critically, the Rule specifies that if the property "will be created in the future," then the customer receives the benefit of the taxpayer's service "where [the property] is expected to be used or delivered." *Id.*, 19402(303)(b)(ii).

C. Administrative and Trial Court Proceedings

In 2015, Teague claimed a refund for overpaid taxes for the period January 1, 2011 through December 31, 2014 arising from RCW 82.04.462's revised apportionment methodology. CP 236; CP 254-56. Teague argued that because its design services relate to tangible personal property to be created in the future, *i.e.*, aircraft interiors, Rule 19402(303)(b) dictated that its income must be sourced to the location where those aircraft interiors were "expected to be used or delivered"—regardless of whether Teague contracted directly with an airline or with Boeing.

DOR refunded Teague taxes paid on income earned from its contracts with the airlines, but not on its contracts with Boeing. CP 258-65; CP 286-300. Teague then challenged DOR's determination in the trial court. CP 1-5. The trial court granted DOR's motion for summary judgment, reasoning that—despite Rule 19402—when Teague contracts with Boeing, Boeing always receives the benefit of Teague's designs where it assembles the aircraft interiors, not where the interiors were "expected to be used or delivered." VRP at 26; CP 337-38.

D. Court of Appeals' Published Opinion

By a 2-1 decision, the Court of Appeals affirmed. The majority recognized that Rule 19402 provided DOR's guidance on where the taxpayer's customer "receives the benefit of the service" pursuant to RCW 82.04.462's apportionment scheme. Opinion at 7. It further recognized that Teague's design services relate to "tangible personal property" that "will be created or delivered in the future" and, thus, the Rule requires income from those services to be attributed to "where [the property] is expected to be used or delivered." *Id.* at 7-8.

Beyond that, like the DOR before it, the majority largely ignored Rule 19402. Focusing on RCW 82.04.462's requirement that income be attributed to where the "customer received the benefit of the taxpayer's service," the majority held that, because Boeing assembled the aircraft interiors designed by Teague in Washington, Boeing received the benefit of Teague's design services in Washington. The majority rejected Teague's argument that Rule 19402's unambiguous terms compelled a different result on the ground that it "fails to give effect to the identity of the taxpayer's customer." Opinion at 9.

The dissent disagreed, noting that RCW 82.04.462 was subject to more than one reasonable interpretation. "The majority concludes that Boeing received the benefit of Teague's design services in Washington, where Boeing used the design to manufacture airplane interiors for its commercial airplanes. But another reasonable interpretation is that Boeing received the benefit of Teague's design services when Boeing sold the completed airplanes to out-of-state airlines. Certainly that is where [sic] Boeing received the *financial* benefit of Teague's design services." Opinion at 12 (emphasis in original).

It was because of such ambiguities, argued the dissent, that DOR promulgated Rule 19402. Opinion at 12. Regarding Rule 19402(303)(b)(ii), upon which Teague relies, the dissent properly concluded, "there is no question that the interiors will be delivered in the future and that the place of delivery is where the airlines are located, not where Boeing is located." *Id.* at 13. "In short, RCW 82.04.462(3)(b)(i) and Rule 19402 either provide that Teague should not be subject to B&O taxes for its design services or are hopelessly unclear." *Id.* If the latter, then the "ambiguity must be resolved in favor of Teague." *Id.*

V. REASONS FOR REVIEW

The Court of Appeals' failure to confront—or even recognize—RCW 82.04.462's patent ambiguity resulted in two fundamental errors, both of which merit this Court's review. First, the majority refused to give deference to Rule 19402's plain meaning as the controlling interpretation of the statute. Second, to the extent Rule 19402 did not clearly resolve the case for Teague, then the majority should have applied the wellestablished rule of construction that ambiguous statutes must be interpreted in favor of the taxpayer. Either way, as the dissent correctly pointed out, Teague was entitled to a tax refund.

A. RCW 82.04.462 Is An Ambiguous Tax Statute.

The proper apportionment of Teague's income for B&O tax turns exclusively on identifying the state where Teague's "customer received the benefit" of Teague's service. RCW 82.04.462(3)(b)(i). That concept—where the "customer received the benefit" of a service—is inherently ambiguous because it is subject to multiple reasonable interpretations. *See First Student, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 194 Wn.2d 707, 710, 451 P.3d 1094 (2019) ("A statutory provision is ambiguous when it is fairly susceptible to two or more reasonable interpretations.").

Take, for example, the situation where—as here—the taxpayer's service aids in the customer's manufacture of goods. The taxpayer may perform the service in State A, the taxpayer's customer may use the service when manufacturing the goods in State B, and the finished goods then may be sold to the customer's customer in State C. Does the customer receive the benefit of the service where the taxpayer performed the service, where the customer manufactured the goods, or where the customer sells the goods to the customer's customer?

Indeed, legal commentators have noted that when an apportionment scheme is stated as a broad principle as it is in RCW 82.04.462, to avoid ambiguity, published rules ("proxies") are necessary to inform taxpayers how the principle should be applied to specific transactions. J. Swain, *Reforming the State Corporate Income Tax: A Market State Approach to the Sourcing of Service Receipts*, 83 Tul. L. Rev. 285, 347 (2008) (arguing that although apportionment can "be expressed as a principle, such as 'where the benefit of the service is received' or 'where the service is used and enjoyed' ... it would be advisable to adopt a proxy-driven approach because of the ambiguity inherent in identifying where the benefit of a product is received.").

Plainly, DOR understood this too. DOR adopted Rule 19402 because it recognized that, without further explanation and examples, RCW 82.04.462's nebulous "customer received the benefit" standard could lead to inconsistent application and,

13

thus, provide a trap for unwary taxpayers. *See* WAC 458-20-19402(303) ("This subsection explains the framework for determining where the benefit of a service is received."); *ARUP Labs., Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 12 Wn. App.2d 269, 729, 457 P.3d 492 (2020) (Rule 19402 "was promulgated to help taxpayers assess where the benefit of the service is received.").

B. Neither DOR Nor The Courts Can Ignore Rule 19402.

Because DOR promulgated Rule 19402 to resolve RCW 82.04.462's ambiguities, the Court of Appeals majority should have given the Rule "great weight." *First Student*, 194 Wn.2d at 717; *Ass 'n of Wash. Bus. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 155 Wn.2d 430, 447 & n.17, 120 P.3d 46 (2005) (DOR rules entitled to deference if statute ambiguous). At the same time, the majority should have rejected DOR's invitation to substitute the Rule's plain meaning with a novel construction floated for the first time in litigation. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 815, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) (no deference where agency "bootstrap[s] a legal argument into the place of agency interpretation").

After all, DOR's rules serve "as advance notice of the agency's position should a dispute arise." Ass'n of Wash. Bus., 155 Wn.2d at 447. As such, taxpayers "must be able to rely on the plain meaning of ... Department interpretations, without fear that a state agency will later penalize them by adopting a different interpretation." Silverstreak, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 159 Wn.2d 868, 889-90, 154 P.3d 891 (2007); see also Avnet, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, 187 Wn.2d 44, 82, 384 P.3d 571 (2016) (Gordon McCloud, J., dissenting) ("Not only would it be unfair to ignore [DOR's] own rules, the legislature requires that [DOR] follow its own promulgated rules"). Unfortunately, and as demonstrated below, the Court of Appeals majority failed to follow these settled precedents.

C. Rule 19402(303)(b) Is Unambiguous And Dispositive.

The majority opinion cannot be squared with Rule 19402. The rules of statutory construction apply to regulations and, as such, the "language of an unambiguous regulation is given its plain and ordinary meaning unless legislative intent indicates to the contrary." *Tesoro Ref. and Mktg. Co. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 164 Wn.2d 310, 322, 190 P.3d 28 (2008). Unlike the statute it interprets, Rule 19402(303)(b) is unambiguous. It is undisputed that Teague provides Boeing with design services, not tangible personal property. It is equally undisputed that these services *relate* to property—*i.e.*, aircraft interiors—that Boeing creates in its airplane assembly process. The Rule provides that, where, as here, the services relate to tangible personal property the taxpayer's customer will "create[] in the future," then the benefit of the service is received "where [the property] is expected to be used or delivered." WAC 458-20-19402(303)(b)(ii).

Rule 19402(303)(b) does not ask where the taxpayer's design services are used by its customer. All that matters is where the finished tangible personal property created from those design services is "expected to be used or delivered." *Id.* Here, whether Teague contracts with Boeing or contracts with a specific airline, it is undisputed that the aircraft interiors it designs and Boeing assembles are "expected to be used or delivered" where the

airlines operate—not where Boeing used the designs to assemble the interiors as part of the plane. Under Rule19402's plain and ordinary meaning, that is the beginning and end of the analysis.

Without confronting the actual language of Rule 19402, the Court of Appeals majority refused to give the Rule's plain meaning effect on the grounds that doing so would "ignore[] the key statutory inquiry, which is 'where the *customer* received the benefit of the taxpayer's service." Opinion at 9 (quoting RCW 82.04.462(3)(b)(i)). But the Rule is unequivocal. It does not matter whether the finished property is to be used by or delivered to the taxpayer's customer or the "customer's customer." The location of delivery and/or use is all that matters. To be sure, DOR could have drafted Rule 19402 to draw a distinction based on the customer's location in situations related to the manufacture of tangible personal property, but it did not.

This is clear when Rule 19402 is viewed as a whole. *Dep't* of *Revenue v. Nord Nw. Corp.*, 164 Wn. App. 215, 224, 264 P.3d 25 (2011) (rule should be read in context of regulatory scheme as a whole). Unlike section 303(b), sections 303(c) and (d) state that, when a service "does not relate to real or tangible personal property," income is allocated to where the "*customer's* related business activities occur"; the "*customer* is located"; or the "*customer* resides." WAC 458-20-19402(303)(c) & (d). In short, when apportionment turns on the identity or location of the taxpayer's customer, DOR said so specifically—and it did not say so for services related to future personal property.

The Rule's examples confirm DOR's determination that the taxpayer's customer receives the benefit of the taxpayer's services where the customer sells or delivers the property:

Example 13. Taxpayer, a commissioned salesperson, sells tangible personal property (100 widgets) for Distributor to XYZ Company for delivery to Spokane. Distributor receives the benefit of Taxpayer's service where the tangible personal property will be delivered. Therefore, Taxpayer will attribute the commission from this sale to Washington.

Example 14. Same facts as in Example 13, but the widgets are to be delivered 50 to Spokane, 25 to Idaho, and 25 to Oregon. In this case, the benefit is received in all three states. Taxpayer shall attribute the receipts (commission) from this sale 50% to Washington, 25%

to Idaho, and 25% to Oregon where the tangible personal property is delivered to the buyer.

WAC 458-20-19402(304). In both, income is sourced where the property is received by the taxpayer's "customer's customer" (XYZ) without regard to the location of the taxpayer's customer (Distributor). The majority's claim that the examples merely "illustrate a scenario where the customer—the distributor received the benefit of the taxpayer's services in different states" both begs the question and misses the point: the taxpayer's customer "receives the benefit" of the services where the customer's customer takes delivery of the property. So too here.

D. The Rule Reasonably Interprets RCW 82.04.462.

The Court of Appeals' analysis implies that Rule 19402 cannot be given its plain and ordinary meaning because doing so would conflict with RCW 82.04.462. That is, the customer must necessarily "receive the benefit" of the taxpayer's services only where the customer uses the services to create tangible personal property, but not where the customer sells that property. Not so. Washington's "single factor" apportionment method is intended to allocate service income based on the contributions of market states in generating the income—and, thus, income may be (and often is) sourced to a state other than the state where the services are rendered or received. *See, generally*, Swain, *supra*.

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