FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/11/2022 2:33 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100560-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WALTER DORWIN TEAGUE ASSOCIATES, INC.,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Nam D. Nguyen, WSBA No. 47402 Jessica E. Fogel, WSBA No. 36846 Assistant Attorneys General Revenue & Finance Division PO Box 40123 Olympia, WA 98504-0123 (360) 753-5515, OID No. 91207

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

A business engaged in service activity in more than one state is entitled to apportion its gross income among the various states in which it operates. RCW 82.04.460. This concept of apportionment is rooted in the constitutional principle that a state may not tax value earned outside its borders but may tax its fair share of an interstate transaction. *See generally Goldberg v. Sweet*, 488 U.S. 252, 261, 109 S. Ct. 582, 102 L. Ed. 2d 607 (1989). In 2010, the Legislature changed the cost apportionment method to the current market based method,

known as single factor apportionment. Laws of 2010, 1st spec. sess., ch. 23, § 101(2)(b). By changing the apportionment method, the Legislature intended to "require businesses" earn[ing] significant income from Washington residents from providing services' to 'pay their fair share of the cost of services that this state renders and the infrastructure it provides." WAC 458-20-19402(101) (citing Laws of 2010, 1st spec. sess., ch. 23, § 101).

Washington's single factor method for apportioning service income is based on an equation. Taxpayers multiply their apportionable income by the "receipts factor."

RCW 82.04.462(1). The receipts factor is a fraction, with the numerator representing the taxpayer's apportionable income attributable to Washington, and the denominator representing the taxpayer's apportionable income worldwide.

¹ Teague had originally paid B&O tax using the repealed cost apportionment method, and subsequently filed for the refund at issue based on its interpretation of the current apportionment method. CP 236.

RCW 82.04.462(2), (3)(a). The Legislature directs that for purposes of computing the receipts factor, gross income of the business generated from each apportionable activity is attributed to the state "[w]here the customer received the benefit of the taxpayer's service." RCW 82.04.462(3)(b)(i).

The statute defines "customer" as "a person or entity to whom the taxpayer makes a sale or renders services or from whom the taxpayer otherwise receives gross income of the business." RCW 82.04.462(3)(b)(viii). While the statute does not define "benefit," the Court of Appeals recently described its plain and ordinary meaning as the location where the taxpayer's customer received "the helpful or useful effect of its services." *ARUP*, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 282.

The Department promulgated Rule 19402 to provide a "framework for determining where the benefit of a service is received." WAC 458-20-19402(303). The rule reiterates the statutory inquiry of identifying "[w]here the customer received the benefit of the taxpayer's service." WAC 458-20-

19402(301)(a). The rule goes on to explain, "[i]f the taxpayer's service relates to tangible personal property, then the benefit is received where the tangible personal property is located or intended/expected to be located." WAC 458-20-19402(303)(b). For tangible personal property that will be created or delivered in the future, "the principal place of use is where it is expected to be used or delivered." WAC 458-20-19402(303)(b)(ii). The rule includes "designing specific/unique tangible personal property" as among the services that "relate to tangible personal property." WAC 458-20-19402(303)(b)(iii).

The Court of Appeals followed Rule 19402 by focusing on the touchstone inquiry—who is the taxpayer's customer and where did the customer receive the benefit of taxpayer's service? The Court correctly identified Boeing as Teague's "customer" for the income at issue. *Teague*, 500 P.3d at 195.

The Court applied the rule's framework when it determined that "[t]he undisputed evidence demonstrates that Boeing expected to use the created airplane interiors designed by Teague during

the manufacturing process." *Id.* The Court affirmed the trial court's conclusion that Boeing received the helpful and useful effect of Teague's services in manufacturing the airplane interiors in Washington. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals' decision not only applies

RCW 82.04.462 and Rule 19402 correctly, but in a common sense way: It attributes to Washington the income a

Washington-based taxpayer (Teague) receives from a customer (Boeing) who uses the aircraft interior designs to manufacture airplanes in Washington. To suggest Washington should not be able to tax this income is illogical, and the courts below properly rejected Teague's arguments. No further review is warranted.

B. RCW 82.04.462 is Not Ambiguous, and the Court of Appeals Correctly Rejected Teague's Interpretation of Rule 19402

Teague seeks this Court's review on the erroneous premises that RCW 82.04.462 is ambiguous and the Court of Appeals failed to apply the plain meaning of Rule 19402.

Neither claim is correct. The Court of Appeals applied both the statute and rule's plain meaning and concluded that Boeing received the benefit of Teague's services where it manufactured the airplane interiors Teague designed. *Teague*, 500 P.3d at 195. Teague's interpretation of Rule 19402, in contrast, fails to address where the "customer" received the benefit of the services.

As a preliminary matter, RCW 82.04.462 is not ambiguous simply because it does not specify, for all circumstances and taxpayers, where a customer receives the benefit of a taxpayer's service. A statute is ambiguous only when it is susceptible to two or more reasonable interpretations. *State v. Gray*, 174 Wn.2d 920, 927, 280 P.3d 1110 (2012). Teague claims that any apportionment method is necessarily ambiguous and, specifically, here, because the customer could receive the benefit of the service "where the taxpayer performed the service, where the customer manufactured the goods, or where the customer sells the goods to the customer's

customer[.]" Pet. Review at 12-13.² A statute is not ambiguous merely because different interpretations are conceivable. Courts have recognized that "a statute may possibly be unclear in its application to a specific situation, but this does not render it ambiguous." *Bowie v. Dep't of Revenue*, 171 Wn.2d 1, 11 n.7, 248 P.3d 504 (2011).

Teague's interpretation is not reasonable because it focuses on where the taxpayer and the customer's customer received the benefit of taxpayer's services. The statute makes clear that apportionment is based on where "the customer received the benefit of the taxpayer's service."

RCW 82.04.462(3)(b)(i). Teague's interpretation conflicts with the statute's customer-centric framework.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals has already concluded that the statutory term "benefit" can be given its plain and ordinary meaning as defined in the dictionary. *ARUP*, 12 Wn.

² Teague fails to note that two of these three options place the benefit of the service in this case in Washington.

App. 2d at 282. In *ARUP*, the Court instructed that under the plain meaning of the statute, taxpayer's income is apportioned to the state where the taxpayer's "customers receive the helpful or useful effect of [the taxpayer's] services." *ARUP*, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 282. Here, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that Boeing received the helpful or useful effect of Teague's design services in Washington, where Boeing used the designs to manufacture airplane interiors as part of its airplane manufacturing process. Boeing did not receive the benefit of Teague's design services in the states where Boeing's airline customers ultimately used the manufactured airplanes.

To the extent there is any ambiguity, however, the

Department's rule is consistent with this conclusion.

Rule 19402 reiterates that the inquiry is where the "customer receives the benefit of the taxpayer's services." WAC 458-20-19402(301)(a) (emphasis added). As discussed above, the rule explains that where the taxpayer's service relates to tangible personal property that will be created or delivered in the future,

the principal place of use is where it is expected to be used or delivered. WAC 458-20-19402(303)(b)(ii). Reading these provisions together, and consistent with the statute, the relevant use of the tangible personal property refers to the use by the customer, not the customer's customer. Therefore, under both the statute, the applicable case law, and the rule, Boeing received the benefit of Teague's services where it used the tangible personal property Teague designed. Boeing used the airplane interiors in its manufacturing process in Washington. The Court of Appeals applied the plain meaning of Rule 19402 when it concluded that Boeing received the benefit of Teague's services where Boeing used Teague's designs to manufacture airplane interiors.

The Court of Appeals correctly rejected Teague's arguments with respect to Rule 19402(303)(b) because Teague "ignores the key statutory inquiry" and "fails to give effect to the identity of the taxpayer's customer, which is required for the apportionment analysis." *Teague*, 500 P.3d at 195-96. By

improperly focusing on isolated language in one section of the rule, Teague's argument ignores the overarching directive in both RCW 82.04.462 and Rule 19402 to focus on the customer. "A term in a regulation should not be read in isolation but rather within the context of the regulatory and statutory scheme as a whole." *City of Seattle v. Allison*, 148 Wn.2d 75, 81, 59 P.3d 85 (2002). Teague makes the same mistake by claiming Rule 19402's Examples 13 and 14 confirm that Teague's income should be attributed to where Boeing sells or delivers airplanes. Pet. Review at 15-16.³ The Court of Appeals addressed this

³ Example 13. Taxpayer, a commissioned salesperson, sells tangible personal property (100 widgets) for Distributor to XYZ Company for delivery to Spokane. Distributor receives the benefit of Taxpayer's service where the tangible personal property will be delivered. Therefore, Taxpayer will attribute the commission from this sale to Washington.

Example 14. Same facts as in Example 13, but the widgets are to be delivered 50 to Spokane, 25 to Idaho, and 25 to Oregon. In this case, the benefit is received in all three states. Taxpayer shall attribute the receipts (commission) from this sale 50% to Washington, 25% to Idaho, and 25% to Oregon where the tangible personal property is delivered to the buyer. WAC 458-20-19402(304)(b).

argument, explaining that Teague cited them out of context and thus the "examples do not support the interpretation that the identity of the taxpayer's customer is irrelevant." *Teague*, 500 P.3d at 196. These examples actually support the Department's argument because they "focus on where the taxpayer's customer received the benefit of the taxpayer's services." *Id.* Consistent with the examples, the Court of Appeals properly considered Boeing's identity as an airplane manufacturer and the fact that Boeing utilized Teague's design services in the manufacturing of airplane interiors.

Moreover, construing Rule 19402 as Teague suggests would conflict with the statute's focus on where the *customer* received the benefit. Courts must construe administrative rules consistent with the governing statutes. *See Ass'n of Wash. Bus. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 155 Wn.2d 430, 447, 120 P.3d 46 (2005) (agency interpretive rules have no inherent authority but are enforceable "by authority of the statute"); *Activate, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 150 Wn. App. 807, 816 n.9, 209 P.3d 524 (2009)

(if a rule is inconsistent with the governing statute, "the rule would have to give way to the statute"). The Court of Appeals in this case applied the rule consistent with the applicable statutory directive to apportion to where the customer received the benefits of taxpayer's services, and Teague does not argue otherwise. Therefore, whether or not RCW 82.04.462 is ambiguous, the Court of Appeals applied the law to the facts of this case consistent with both the applicable statute and rule.

C. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict with Any Decisions of the Court of Appeals or This Court

No conflict exists with respect to the existing case law on apportionment in Washington. The Court of Appeals has addressed the concept in two recent cases, both of which applied the statutory framework focusing on "where the customer received the benefit of the taxpayer's service." *ARUP*, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 280 (apportioning income from testing of bodily fluids and tissue samples to Washington, where taxpayer's physician customers used the test results to diagnose

and treat patients); LendingTree, LLC v. Dep't of Revenue,
12 Wn. App. 2d 887, 891-93, 460 P.3d 640 (2020) (citing
ARUP with approval and apportioning income from lending
marketplace to locations where LendingTree's lender customers
used the leads to generate business). Teague does not argue that
the decision below conflicts with either of these cases. Nor
could it, as the analyses are consistent.

Instead, resting on the false premise that the courts below ignored the Department rule, Teague claims a conflict exists with cases requiring courts to give effect to the plain meaning of administrative rules. Pet. Review at 15-16. As explained above, the Court of Appeals gave effect to the plain meaning of Rule 19402 by applying the rule to the facts of this case. The Court rejected Teague's argument, not because the Court ignored Rule 19402, but because Teague ignored the statute and rule's direction to focus on the taxpayer's customer, not the taxpayer's customer's customer. RCW 82.04.462 and Rule 19402 both clearly direct taxpayers to apportion to "where

the customer received the benefit of the taxpayer's service." No conflict exists upon which to grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

Nor does any conflict exist with respect to case law providing that tax imposing statutes should be construed in a taxpayer's favor. Even if the statute or rule were ambiguous, they should not be construed in Teague's favor as Teague contends. The principle of construing ambiguities against the taxing power and in favor of taxpayers applies in the context of tax imposing statutes. Tesoro Refining & Marketing Co. v. *Dep't of Revenue*, 164 Wn.2d 310, 317, 190 P.3d 28 (2008) (plurality opinion) (citing Agrilink Foods, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, 153 Wn.2d 392, 396-97, 103 P.3d 1226 (2005)). An inverse presumption applies with respect to statutes granting exemptions or deductions, as they are construed fairly and keeping with the ordinary meaning of the language against the taxpayer. Tesoro, 164 Wn.2d at 317 (citing Simpson Inv. Co., 141 Wn.2d at 149-50).

Here, RCW 82.04.462 is not a tax imposing statute, but rather a tax calculation statute, and therefore should not be construed in favor of the taxpayer. *See Sacred Heart Med. Ctr. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 88 Wn. App. 632, 636-37, 946 P.2d 409 (1997) (reiterating the rule that courts strictly interpret ambiguities in statutes imposing taxes in favor of the taxpayer . . . but that an opposite analysis applies to tax exemption statutes). Therefore, no rule of construction warrants interpreting the apportionment statute in Teague's favor and no conflict exists on this point.

D. This Case Raises No Issue of Substantial Public Interest

There is no issue of substantial public interest requiring this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals' decision simply applied the statute, rule, and relevant case law to Teague's fact-specific business activity of designing airplane interiors for an airplane manufacturer in Washington.

Teague' argument in support of an issue of substantial public interest relies on its erroneous claim that the Court of Appeals failed to apply the plain meaning of Rule 19402. As shown above, the Court analyzed and applied the plain meaning of Rule 19402, which must necessarily be interpreted in light of the statute it implements. *See Ass'n of Wash. Bus.*, 155 Wn.2d at 447. Instead, it is Teague that ignored the directives in RCW 82.04.462 and Rule 19402 to apportion its income to where its customer, Boeing, received the benefits of its design services—where Boeing used the airplane interiors that Teague designed in its manufacturing operations.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals correctly interpreted and applied the applicable statutes and rule. Teague's petition raises no conflict with other cases or issue of substantial public interest meriting review. This Court should deny Teague's petition.

This document contains 3,665 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.